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Wembley’s Volunteer Fire Brigade, 1895-1936 

When Wembley Urban District set up its Fire Brigade in 1895, the firemen were volunteers, 

mainly from among the Council’s own employees. They would be summoned by a bell above 

the fire station, in St John’s Road behind the Council offices, when an alarm was raised. The 

fire engine was an old hand-worked fire pump, which had belonged to the Harrow Brigade 

who had dealt with fires in the area before Wembley became a separate District. The 

firemens’ first task would be to find two horses to pull the pump, either from the Council’s 

yard at Ecclestone Mews, or from a local trader who was willing accept payment for allowing 

his horses to be borrowed. 

The volunteers were paid a fee for 

attending training “drills”, and an  

hourly amount for each fire they were 

called out to. Following a petition 

from the firemen the Council agreed 

a revised scale of remuneration from 

January 1900:                                                                                                                                                           

Each member present within the first 

hour, 2/6 [half a crown], and 1/- [one 

shilling] per hour for first 5 hours & 

9d [nine pence] per hour afterwards. 

6d [six pence] each for refreshments. 

An extract from the minutes of a       

Wembley Fire Brigade Committee                         

meeting on 8 January 1900.                              

[Source: Brent Archives.] 

 

Wembley in the early years of the twentieth century was a mixture of rural farms and small 

villages that were growing together into a town with both housing and commercial 

developments. The District’s population in 1901 was around 4,500, so that its Fire Brigade 

was not called out very often. The few serious fires usually involved hay stacks (or “ricks”) at 

local farms, and claims against insurance companies to recover the cost of dealing with them. 

Some months there were no call-outs to report to the Committee, and matters such as the 

location of new hydrants, low water pressure in the Colne Valley Water Company’s 4 inch 

mains or the broken rope 

on the fire station bell 

(replaced by an iron 

chain) were discussed.  

A minute from a Fire 

Brigade Committee 

meeting in March 1900. 

[Source: Brent Archives.] 
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In February 1905 self-employed builder, Edward Cox, was the first member of his Sudbury 

family to join the Wembley Fire Brigade. His brother Ernest, a plumber, also became a part-

time fireman in March 1911. Volunteers could apply to join the Brigade, and if accepted by a 

vote of the firemen, their name would be put forward to the Council’s Fire Brigade Committee 

for approval of their appointment. The Brigade’s Chief Officer at this time was a retired army 

officer, Major Fleetwood Buss, who lived at “Rosmoyne” in Harrow Road, opposite the site 

where a new Wembley Fire Station would be built in the late 1930’s. The Major had drilled 

them into an efficient unit, which regularly won prizes at competitions across Middlesex. In 

April 1913 the Wembley Trademens’ Association presented the Brigade with a Silver Challenge 

Cup, to be awarded each year to the winner of a competition for its most proficient fireman. 

 

Wembley’s Volunteer Fire Brigade, with their horse-drawn fire pump. Although dated 1904, the 

photograph must be slightly later, as E.J. Cox did not join the Brigade until the following year. 

[Image courtesy of, and copyright, the London Fire Brigade Museum.] 

By this time Wembley was considering the purchase of a new fire engine.  On 29 October 

1913 a special meeting of the Council agreed to pay £1,000 to Messrs Merryweather for a 

motor fire pump, an extension escape and other equipment. The vote was 6 to 3 in favour, 

after which one opposing Councillor resigned because of the considerable expense involved! 

When the motor fire pump was delivered in 1914, the Council decided to appoint one of the 

firemen as a full-time driver. On his first lesson with a Merryweather instructor, Driver W. 

Mansell found that it was very different from driving a horse and cart, overturning the vehicle 

and ending up in St Mary’s Hospital, but he eventually passed his test. 
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With the outbreak of the First World War it was decided to cut the size of Wembley Fire 

Brigade from 15 men to 10, by not filling vacancies that arose. The volunteers were to receive 

a retaining fee of five shillings a year. The Committee also decided to train two relief drivers 

from among the firemen, and were told in December 1914 that J. Mansell and Ernest Cox 

‘...had been passed by Major Buss as efficient and capable men to drive the motor engine.’  

They each agreed ‘...to be on duty at the Engine House alternate weeks from 6pm to 

10.30pm with one Sunday in four all day at a remuneration of 12/- per week whilst on duty in 

addition to ordinary fees for drills and turn-outs.’  When both of the Mansell brothers 

threatened to resign from the Brigade in 1915, Edward Cox, by then Senior Fireman, was also 

taught to drive the motor fire pump. 

On the night of 2 February 1917 the Wembley Brigade was 

called out to help fight a blaze at the Purex lead paint works in 

Greenford. Harrow Fire Brigade were already on the scene, and 

the Wembley men were asked to stop the fire from spreading 

to a munitions factory next door. The water pressure from their 

hydrant was insufficient, so they used their skills to pump 

water from the Grand Junction Canal, half a mile away. By this 

time help was also on hand from the Acton, Ealing, Hanwell 

and Southall Brigades, and after four hours the flames were 

finally overcome. The Wembley firemens’ action averted a 

disaster, as the munitions factory, National Filling Station 

No.28, was a large complex of wooden huts used for filling 6 

inch diameter shells with high explosive charges and poison 

gas.  

A report of the Purex Works fire from the “Middlesex County 

Times” of 10 February 1917, written from the Ealing Fire Brigade 

point of view as the newspaper was published there.                             

[Source: Ealing Local History Centre – local newspaper microfilms.] 

Later that year, King George V set up the Order of the 

British Empire, awarding medals to civilians who had shown 

distinguished service during the First World War. In 

November 1920 Edward and Ernest Cox were among four 

Wembley firemen to receive these medals for their efforts at 

the Purex Works fire. Wembley Council had put forward the 

names of all its Brigade’s men who attended the blaze, but 

the Home Office had limited them to a maximum of four. 

They decided to nominate the two most senior officers 

present, Chief Officer Wiggins and Superintendent Harris, 

and to let the firemen themselves choose the other two. 

Part of the report of a Wembley U.D.C. meeting in November 

1920, at which the Wembley firemen were presented with          

their Medals of the Order of the British Empire for Meritorious 

Service, from the “Harrow Observer” of 19 November 1920.                                                      

[Source: Brent Archives – local newspaper microfilms.] 
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As part of the post-war reorganisation of Wembley Fire Brigade new rules were introduced 

from 1919 (see Appendix at pages 8-10), setting out duties, pay and other matters such                  

as uniforms and insurance. As well as a full-time driver, the Brigade was to have three officers 

and twelve firemen. All members had to live within easy distance of the fire station, and had 

to report there immediately on an alarm being sounded. To assist with this, alarm bells were 

installed in each fireman’s home, with 

telephones installed in the officers’ homes. 

Men could be fined, or even dismissed, for 

failing to respond to an alarm.  

A note about the Fire Brigade from the                 

1920 edition of the Wembley Guide.                               

[Source: Brent Archives – Wembley History Society 

Collection, Acc.351.] 

Edward Cox was appointed Chief Officer of Wembley Fire Brigade in April 1919, with an 

annual retaining fee of £25, having been promoted to Second Officer the previous year. 

Ernest Cox, who had returned to duty as a fireman in January that year after being called up 

for service in the forces near the end of the war, was made Third Officer in June. Their 

nephew, William Stevens, joined the Brigade in May 1919, and their youngest brother Albert, 

who still lived at the family home in Myrtle Cottages, Sudbury, was elected as a fireman in 

January 1920, both after wartime army service. As a result, this photograph of the Wembley 

Fire Brigade, taken in 1920, includes four members of the Cox family. 

 

Wembley Fire Brigade, with their Merryweather motor fire pump, in 1920.                                                 

[Photograph courtesy of Carol Snape, who sent a copy of it to Wembley History Society in January 2010.                        

It was from her family’s collection, and the firemen were thought to include a brother and three uncles                          

of her late grandmother, with surnames probably Cox or Stevens. We now know that Chief Officer Edward                      

Cox is standing at the right of the picture, with Ernest Cox and William Stevens seated to his right.                           

Albert Cox is probably the fireman standing second from the left on the back of the fire engine.] 
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When William Stevens got married in 1925 it was 

Wembley’s first Fireman’s Wedding. As the couple left 

St John’s Church the other firemen gave them a guard 

of honour, forming an arch with their hatchets, before 

they were driven to the reception at the British Legion 

Hall in Lancelot Road on the fire engine. Along with 

many other ex-servicemen, William Stevens had joined 

the local branch of the new British Legion. His bride, 

Cicely Southern, was the daughter of the Legion’s Hon. 

Secretary, and the couple had met as members of the 

Legion’s tennis club. Albert Cox (born in the same year 

as William, 1897, although being his uncle) was best 

man at the wedding, and had his own Fireman’s 

Wedding in August 1926. 

Aside: The Wembley “Fireman’s Wedding” of William and 

Cicely Stevens.  [Courtesy of Caroline Henney.]                           

Below: The Fire Brigade Committee minute of 21 July 

1926, agreeing Albert Cox’s “Fireman’s Wedding”.                 

[Source: Brent Archives.] 

 

The British Legion, an organisation which looked after the interests of ex-servicemen as well 

as providing a sports and social club, had a number of other firemen as members. Generally, 

this was a benefit as it helped to maintain comradeship in the Brigade, but it did occasionally 

cause difficulties, as shown by this paragraph from a letter sent many years later to Joan 

Stevens (William’s daughter) by her “Aunt Southern”: 

 

[Extract of letter courtesy of Caroline Henney.] 

The number of people and buildings in Wembley had grown considerably since 1900, 

especially after the British Empire Exhibition of 1924/25 had attracted people to move to this 
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leafy suburb. New housing estates meant that new fire hydrants and fire alarm points had to 

be installed, and regularly tested. The number of call-outs increased, even though some   

were false alarms. Motor cars and lorries catching fire were a common reason for calls.  

 

A Fire Brigade Committee minute from March 1926.  [Source: Brent Archives.] 

Chief Officer Cox proposed that the Brigade should have a second vehicle, which could 

respond quickly to calls with a small number of men, rather than the motor fire pump having 

to wait for a full crew to reach the fire station before setting out. In July 1924 the Council 

agreed to spend £790 on what it called a “first aid machine”, which would carry light ladders, 

fire extinguishers and have a 40 gallon water tank with a small rotary pump. With the growing 

workload, the number of Brigade members was increased to 20 in 1928. 

A minute from the Fire Brigade Committee meeting on 20 October 1926.  [Source: Brent Archives.] 

Just as his had been the first Fireman’s Wedding, William Stevens also received Wembley’s 

first Fireman’s Funeral six years later when he died in April 1931 after a short illness, aged 

just 33. Every member of Wembley Fire Brigade turned out, together with representatives 

from the Harrow, Wealdstone, Willesden and Chiswick brigades. The fire engine, carrying his 

uniform and many wreaths, formed part of an impressive funeral procession from St John’s 

Church to Alperton Cemetery.  

The 1931 census showed that Wembley’s population had grown to 48,500. It continued to 

increase over the next few years, and when the rapidly developing next door District of 

Kingsbury was merged into Wembley Urban District in 1934, the Council had to review how its 

services were organised. By the end of the year it was interviewing men from other brigades, 

and five full-time professional firemen took up duty in January 1935. The Fire Brigade 

Committee also thought that they needed a full-time Chief Officer. Edward Cox, who was now 

approaching the Brigade’s official retirement age of 60, said that he would be willing to take 

on the role, but when he was told that his appointment would be reviewed after twelve 

months, he changed his mind.  
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An extract from the minutes of 

Wembley’s Fire Brigade Committee 

meeting on 9 May 1935.                    

[Source: Brent Archives.] 

At a special inspection of its Fire 

Brigade by members of the 

Council on 1 July 1935, Chief 

Officer Cox retired after three 

decades faithful service to the 

District, retaining the rank of 

Honorary Chief Officer. Ernest 

Noah, the new full-time Chief 

Officer recruited from the Stoke-

on-Trent Fire Brigade on a salary 

of £400 p.a., was introduced to 

the firemen. Bars to their long 

service medals were presented to 

Charles Foskett (20 years) and 

Albert Cox (15 years), as well as 

the 30 year bar to Edward Cox. 

He was also awarded a retirement gratuity of £250 at a Council meeting a few months later. 

On 31 January 1936 Ernest Cox (by now Second Officer) and Albert 

Cox were in the last group of eleven volunteers to be discharged, as 

Wembley’s fire-fighters became a wholly professional Brigade. The 

departing men were each given a final payment of £1 for each year of 

service, with an extra amount for the retiring officers. In thanking the 

men for their loyalty and efficiency, Councillor Harley, the Fire Brigade 

Committee Chairman, regretted that:  

 ‘It had been found necessary to dispense with their services in 

view of the rapid growth of the district, which demanded that a 

full-time brigade should always be available.’ 

A report from the “Wembley News” of 7 February 1936.                                                 

[Source: Brent Archives – Public Services: Fire cuttings folder.] 

The new Wembley Fire Brigade had four officers and twenty-one men, 

split into three shifts to provide 24 hour cover. Before the end of 1936 

they were handling 16 calls in a two week period, including several 

ambulance calls, which at that time were also part of the Brigade’s 

duties. While confirming the need for a full-time, professional team of 

firemen, for a District that was about to achieve Borough status, it 

takes nothing away from the service that Wembley residents received 

from their part-time volunteer fire-fighters for over forty years. 

© Philip Grant, Wembley History Society, May 2010.  
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APPENDIX:  Wembley Fire Brigade Rules.                                                                                                                                             

The following are facsimile pages from the minutes of Wembley U.D.C.’s Fire Brigade 

Committee meeting on 6 August 1919, showing the New Rules which applied thereafter. 
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[Source of these pages: Brent Archives – Fire Brigade Committee minutes.] 

The following records of Wembley Urban District Council at Brent Archives were referred to in 

researching this history: 

Fire Brigade Committee Minutes:                                                                                                                                      

Acc. 1977128/27/1 - 1900 to 1914;                                                                                                                          

Acc. 1977128/27/2 – 1914 to 1925;                                                                                                                                         

Acc. 1977128/27/3 - 1925 to 1930. 

Public Health (& Fire Brigades) Committee Minutes:  

Acc. 1977128/15 – 1930 to 1937. 

http://brent.adlibsoft.com/dispatcher.aspx?action=detail&database=ChoiceArchive&priref=110003034&parentpriref=110003034
http://brent.adlibsoft.com/dispatcher.aspx?action=detail&database=ChoiceArchive&priref=110003034&parentpriref=110003034
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The former Wembley Fire Station in St John’s Road, being used as an ARP depot c.1939.                     

[Source: Brent Archives – Wembley History Society Collection, Acc.1060/84.] 


